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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS  

BROWNSVILLE DIVISION  
 

ROBYN LYNN RUIZ §     
 Plaintiff § 
  § 
v.  §    Civil Action No. ________ 
  §  
  §   
RIO HONDO INDEPENDENT SCHOOL  §     
DISTRICT  § 
 Defendant §      
 

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT 
 
 TO THE HONORABLE COURT:  

 COMES NOW ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, Plaintiff herein, and files her ORIGINAL 

COMPLAINT against the RIO HONDO INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT, and for cause of 

action would show the Court and Jury as follows:  

I. SUMMARY  

1.0 This is a sexual assault and molestation action for money damages brought by ROBYN 

LYNN RUIZ, which arises from the RIO HONDO INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT’S 

violations of her federal civil rights.  

II. PARTIES  

2.0 Plaintiff ROBYN LYNN RUIZ resides in Cameron County, Texas.  

2.1 Defendant RIO HONDO INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT (“RIO HONDO ISD” 

hereinafter) is a political subdivision of Cameron County, Texas. Defendant RIO HONDO ISD is 

responsible for the policies, practices, and customs of its school district, as well as the acts or 

omissions of its employees David Noyola, Veronica Puente, and Robert Garza. RIO HONDO 
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ISD can be served with process by serving the Superintendent of Schools, Ismael Garcia, at 215 

West Colorado Street, Rio Hondo, TX 78583.  

III. JURISDICTION & VENUE  

3.0 Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, the Court has original, federal question jurisdiction over 

Plaintiff’s claims under Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972. Additionally, the Court 

has original, federal question jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims against 

Defendant. The Court has supplemental-pendent jurisdiction over the state law claims in this 

complaint pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) because such claims are so related to the federal 

claims in that all of such federal and state claims form part of the same case or controversy 

under article III of the United States Constitution.  

IV.  

4.0 When alleged in this complaint that Defendant RIO HONDO ISD committed any act 

and/or omission, it is meant that Defendant RIO HONDO ISD and/or its officers, principals, 

agents, teachers, employees, or representatives committed such act and/or omission, and that 

at the time, it was done with full authorization and/or ratification of Defendant RIO HONDO 

ISD or done in the normal and routine course and scope of employment of Defendant RIO 

HONDO ISD and/or its officers, principals, agents, teachers, employees, or representatives.  

4.1 Beginning in July 2006, while under the employment, supervision, and control of 

Defendant RIO HONDO ISD during summer band camp at the Rio Hondo High School, David 

Noyola pursued, lured, preyed upon, and began to sexually violate ROBYN LYNN RUIZ.  At 

that time, Noyola was a band teacher at Rio Hondo High School, and ROBYN LYNN RUIZ was 

a minor preparing to begin her freshman year at that school.   
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4.2 David Noyola’s sexual violations of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ continued through August and 

September 2006.  

4.3 In September 2006, Milly Jimenez, mother of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, met with Veronica 

Puente, Principal of the Rio Hondo High School, to discuss Ms. Jimenez’ daughter, ROBYN 

LYNN RUIZ, and David Noyola. Defendant RIO HONDO ISD assigned to Principal Veronica 

Puente the responsibility of preventing sexual harassment at her school, as well as the authority 

to remedy said harassment. As Principal, Veronica Puente occupied a supervisory role in the 

RIO HONDO ISD and was charged with the prevention of violations of Title IX. As Principal, 

Veronica Puente had the authority to address this situation and to institute corrective measures 

on behalf of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ. In turn, Defendant RIO HONDO ISD had actual knowledge 

of this situation. Instead of addressing the situation and institute corrective measures on behalf 

of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, Veronica Puente’s response was to “refer” the matter to the Band 

Director, Robert Garza. Veronica Puente’s acts and/or omissions, and therefore those of the 

RIO HONDO ISD, constitute intentional conduct in clear violation of Title IX by remaining 

deliberately indifferent to acts of teacher-student harassment of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ of which 

Defendant RIO HONDO ISD had actual knowledge.  

4.4 David Noyola’s sexual violations of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ continued through the end of 

her sophomore year.  

4.5 In ROBYN LYNN RUIZ’ junior year of high school, David Noyola left the Rio Hondo 

High School and began working at another Cameron County school where he taught band. 

David Noyola’s sexual violations of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ continued, however. Noyola 

threatened to kill himself if ROBYN LYNN RUIZ ever disclosed their relationship.  
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4.6 On June 18, 2014, ROBYN LYNN RUIZ made an ‘outcry’ of sexual assault to the Rio 

Hondo Police Department. She woke up in the middle of the morning in an emotional state 

complaining of having been sexually abused. She identified the perpetrator as David Noyola. 

She was taken to a local hospital for evaluation and treatment. Officers with the Rio Hondo 

Police Department took ROBYN LYNN RUIZ’ statement. Before taking that statement, two 

previous reports had been filed with the Rio Hondo Police Department regarding possible 

suicide attempts by ROBYN LYNN RUIZ.  

4.7 On July 1, 2014, ROBYN LYNN RUIZ met with Sgt. Victor Tamayo at the Rio Hondo 

Police station. Sgt. Tamayo’s investigation revealed that an improper teacher student 

relationship between David Noyola and ROBYN LYNN RUIZ began sometime during her 8th 

grade year and continued into the summer of 2006 during band camp at the Rio Hondo High 

School. It was also revealed that Noyola started getting more personal with ROBYN LYNN 

RUIZ by holding her hands while in his personal vehicle during rides to and from band camp. 

At one point during band camp ROBYN LYNN RUIZ needed a ride to camp, and the 

investigation revealed that she went over to Noyola’s house, and he greeted her wearing 

nothing but boxer shorts. ROBYN LYNN RUIZ reluctantly entered Noyola’s residence and sat 

down on his couch and waited on Noyola to take her to camp. When Noyola approached 

ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, she stood up, and then Noyola lifted up her shirt and attempted to kiss 

her. At that point, ROBYN LYNN RUIZ became afraid and pushed Noyola away. Shortly after 

that incident, Noyola got dressed and he and ROBYN LYNN RUIZ left for band camp.  

4.8 The Rio Hondo Police Department investigation also revealed that on another occasion 

during band camp in July 2006, ROBYN LYNN RUIZ had gone over to Noyola’s house during 

the day for a ride to camp. She entered his house through the garage door, and sat down on 
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the couch once again in the living room waiting on Noyola to get dressed. Noyola emerged 

again wearing only his boxer shorts. Noyola grabbed ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, started to kiss her, 

and then forcibly removed her clothes. After removing all of her clothes, Noyola laid ROBYN 

LYNN RUIZ down on his couch while he removed his shorts. Noyola exposed himself to her, 

and then attempted to intentionally penetrate her vagina with his penis. After being unable to 

make full penetration with his penis into ROBYN LYNN RUIZ’ vagina, Noyola took her into his 

bedroom in order to make her feel more comfortable. He placed her on his bed, and again 

attempted to make full penetration of her vagina. After failing to make full penetration with his 

penis because of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ’ resistance to pain, Noyola then suggested that she give 

him a “blow job.” Shortly after this incident, ROBYN LYNN RUIZ returned home, and attempted 

to cover up the vaginal bleeding she was experiencing with a sanitary napkin to prevent her 

mother discovering her bloody underwear.  

4.9 The Rio Hondo Police Department investigation further revealed that ROBYN LYNN 

RUIZ returned to David Noyola’s house that evening, and snuck into his bedroom through a 

back window. Sgt. Tamayo found that Noyola had persuaded ROBYN LYNN RUIZ to return so 

that “he could finish the job he started by talking (sic) her virginity.” Once inside Noyola’s 

bedroom, he removed ROBYN LYNN RUIZ’ clothes and placed her on his bed once again. 

While attempting intercourse with ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, Noyola attempted to comfort her, by 

telling her to relax and not be scared. This time, Noyola did fully penetrate ROBYN LYNN 

RUIZ’ vagina with his penis, causing her pain, a tear in the vagina, and bleeding. Police 

investigation revealed that David Noyola quickly placed towels on his bed so that no 

bloodstains could be seen. Sgt. Tamayo’s investigation revealed that Noyola’s sexual assault of 

ROBYN LYNN RUIZ continued into her sophomore year. Shortly thereafter, Noyola resigned 
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his position as band teacher with the RIO HONDO ISD because of rampant rumors of an 

improper relationship with a student. Despite resigning, police investigation revealed that 

Noyola continued ‘sexting’ ROBYN LYNN RUIZ into her junior year of high school.  

4.10 The Rio Hondo Police Department investigation revealed that a meeting had indeed 

taken place on or about September 2006 at the start of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ’ freshman year at 

the Rio Hondo High School with the school principal, Veronica Puente. According to Sgt. 

Tamayo, Principal Puente, ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, and her mother Milly Jimenez met regarding 

the minor’s ‘outcry’ of an improper teacher-student relationship. In that meeting, Principal 

Puente admitted to having heard “rumors” of an improper relationship between an educator 

and a student. The meeting was not recorded or documented, other than to “refer” the matter 

to the Head Director of the Band, Robert Garza.  

4.11 Examination and testing of text messages and audio recordings from the iPhone of 

ROBYN LYNN RUIZ corroborate her outcry of the sexual assault by David Noyola. In text 

messages, David Noyola admits ROBYN LYNN RUIZ was 15 years of age when he took her 

virginity, and that his improper relationship with her began when she was in the 8th grade. 

Noyola admitted to sexual intercourse with ROBYN LYNN RUIZ on numerous occasions starting 

with summer band camp at Rio Hondo High School. Noyola admitted that he “wasn’t thinking,” 

and that he was “sorry” for taking ROBYN LYNN RUIZ’ virginity. Similarly, examination by the 

Rio Hondo Police Department of audio recordings from the iPhone of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ 

corroborates her outcry and Noyola’s text messages.  

4.12 Examination by the Rio Hondo Police Department of the school records of ROBYN 

LYNN RUIZ from the RIO HONDO ISD confirm drastic downward changes in her academic 

performance during school years 2006-2007, and 2007-2008. Some improvement in the 
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minor’s grades was seen in the 2009-2010 school year, after David Noyola had left the Rio 

Hondo High School.  

4.13 In its investigation, the Rio Hondo Police Department located and interviewed Robert 

Garza, Band Director at Rio Hondo High School, who had since retired from the RIO HONDO 

ISD. Garza said he did not remember or recall this particular incident, but does remember 

having a staff meeting with this band directors (including Noyola) in this time frame, to discuss 

improper relationships with students. Garza did not document the meeting, or make any report 

to law enforcement for further investigation.  

4.14 Review of the medical records of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ by the Rio Hondo Police reflect 

she had made outcries to health care professionals about being sexually assaulted by an 

educator. Medical records also confirm ROBYN LYNN RUIZ is suffering psychological, mental 

and related medical-health problems as a result of having been sexually assaulted.  

4.15 Based on its investigation, including the detailed statement by ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, 

examination of text messages and audio recordings, review of medical records on ROBYN 

LYNN RUIZ, and statements of other witnesses, Sgt. Victor Tamayo sought a warrant for the 

arrest of David Noyola for the sexual assault of a child, namely, ROBYN LYNN RUIZ. Based on 

its investigation, Rio Hondo police found that David Noyola caused the penetration of his penis 

into the sexual organ of a child, namely ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, in violation of Texas Penal Code, 

Section 22.011(a)(2)(A), a second degree felony.  

4.16 Rio Hondo Police arrested David Noyola on August 13, 2014, pursuant to a 

Magistrate’s Warrant of Arrest for the Sexual Assault of a Child, Texas Penal Code, Section 

22.011(a)(2)(A), Felony 2nd degree, issued by the Municipal Court of the City of Rio Hondo.  
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4.17 On August 14, 2014, the Cameron County Magistrate Court found probable cause 

does exist to bind David Noyola for the offense of sexual assault of a child, and set bail at 

$150,000.  

4.18 On December 10, 2014, a Cameron County grand jury indicted David Noyola for 

three counts of sexual abuse of a child, namely ROBYN LYNN RUIZ. Trial in the 197th District 

Court is scheduled for March 30, 2015.  

4.19 Plaintiff alleges that in Noyola, Puente, and Garza committing such acts and/or 

omissions, each was the agent or employee of Defendant RIO HONDO ISD and was acting 

within such agency and employment, and was acting under the color of state law.  

4.20 At all pertinent times, Defendant RIO HONDO ISD authorized and/or ratified the 

wrongful tortious acts and/or omissions described herein. Such acts, committed as they were by 

a principal and band director of RIO HONDO ISD, are the acts of RIO HONDO ISD.  

4.21 As a direct and proximate result of the said acts of RIO HONDO ISD, ROBYN LYNN 

RUIZ has suffered the following injuries and damages:  

 a.  Violation of her constitutional rights under the Fifth, Eighth, and Fourteenth 
Amendments to the United States Constitution to be free from state-sponsored 
deprivation of liberty without due process of law, free from the use of cruel and 
unusual punishment, and enjoyment of equal protection under the law; and  

 
 b. Physical pain and suffering, and emotional trauma and suffering.  
 
4.22 ROBYN LYNN RUIZ further alleges that RIO HONDO ISD either knew or had 

constructive knowledge of David Noyola’s past history of improper sexual conduct with 

students. Defendant RIO HONDO did not follow RIO HONDO ISD policy or state law, 

including but not limited to Chapter 261 of the Texas Family Code, and the RIO HONDO ISD 

failed to take action to protect ROBYN LYNN RUIZ’ rights.  
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4.23 At all pertinent times, Defendant RIO HONDO ISD authorized and/or ratified the 

wrongful and tortious acts and/or omissions described herein.  

V. CAUSES OF ACTION-CLAIMS FOR RELIEF  
A. 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

5.1 Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference, the allegations contained in ¶ 4.0 through 

4.22 supra, the same as if fully copied and set forth at length.  

5.2 The Civil Rights Act of 1871, now codified as 42 U.S.C.§ 1983, provides:  

 Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or 
 usage, of any state or territory or the District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to  
 be subjected, any citizen of the United States or any other person within the 
 jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any laws, privileges, or immunities  
 secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an  
 action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for redress.  
 
5.3 The state action requirement for standing under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is more commonly 

referred to as “color of state law,” from the statute itself. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and 

thereupon alleges that in committing said acts and/or omissions, Noyola, Puente, and Garza 

were the agents and employees of Defendant RIO HONDO ISD and were acting under color of 

state law.  

5.4 42 U.S.C. § 1983 requires that the conduct complained of must have deprived the 

person of some privilege or immunity by the Constitution or law of the United States. As such, 

ROBYN LYNN RUIZ alleges that Defendant deprived her of her rights, privileges, and 

immunities secured by the Fifth and Eighth Amendments to the Constitution incorporated and 

applied to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. Defendant RIO HONDO ISD violated 

this law with respect to ROBYN LYNN RUIZ by the following acts and/or omissions:  

 a. By using excessive force in sexually assaulting ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, and by  
  acting with deliberate indifference to the needs of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, which  
  violated her Eighth Amendment protections against cruel and unusual 
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  punishments; and  
  
 b. By failing to intervene, where such intervention would have prevented the 
  sexual assault of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ.  
 
 Defendant RIO HONDO ISD violated this provision with respect to ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, 

by the following acts and/or omissions:  

 a. By using objectionable sexual contact or conduct, ROBYN LYNN RUIZ therefore 
pleads that she was unlawfully assaulted and oppressed; and  

 
 b. By failing to intervene, where such intervention would have prevented the 

sexual assault and oppression of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ.  
 
5.5 Defendant’s actions and/or omissions were “objectively unreasonable” in light of the 

facts and circumstances confronting them without regard to their underlying intent or motivation. 

Clearly, careful attention to the facts and circumstances of this particular case demonstrate the 

unreasonableness of Defendant’s actions. Defendant failed to install, maintain, and enforce the 

proper procedures and measures to prevent the acts in question as a matter of policy, which 

allowed and caused the events set forth herein to occur. Defendant’s acts and/or omissions are 

attributable to it through official action, in the form of a policy statement that is officially 

adopted and promulgated, or that is such a persistent, widespread practice by officials or 

employees of Defendant that is so common or well settled as to constitute a custom that fairly 

represents school district policy.  

5.6 Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Defendant RIO HONDO ISD officials, including but not 

limited to Principal Veronica Puente, were policymakers for RIO HONDO ISD who, while acting 

with deliberate indifference under color of state law, deprived ROBYN LYNN RUIZ of the rights, 

privileges, and immunities secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States. Plaintiff’s 

specific rights there were violated by Defendant are set forth herein. Such rights were violated 
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when the named Defendant officials of RIO HONDO ISD, while acting with deliberate 

indifference towards their incumbent duties, failed to fashion properly or to execute faithfully 

adequate policies to govern the hiring, training, supervision, and discipline of teachers, band 

directors, assistant band directors, band teachers, or principals. Such failures by district 

personnel were pursuant to Defendant’s official policy. In this regard, Defendant’s failure to 

train amounts to deliberate indifference to the rights of students, including ROBYN LYNN RUIZ. 

Plaintiff would show that there exists a pattern of similar constitutional violations by untrained 

employees of Defendant RIO HONDO ISD. In the alternative, the Defendant’s policy was 

promulgated with deliberate indifference to the “known or obvious consequences” that 

constitutional violations would result. Said officials, as policymakers, proximately caused 

ROBYN LYNN RUIZ’ injuries and damages when they committed the particular acts and/or 

omissions:  

 a. Failing to train and supervise its teachers and/or principals adequately 
concerning their interaction with students;  

 
 b. Failing to train school officials regarding the proper manner in which to 

investigate complaints concerning teachers;  
  
 c. Failing to train and supervise its teachers and/or principals and/or school 

officials regarding the proper manner for reporting suspected child abuse 
and/or improper relationships between a district employee and a student;  

 
 d. Failing to adequately supervise the individuals Noyola, Puente, and Garza;  
 
 e. Failing to discipline adequately the individual Noyola for his unlawful use of 

force and sexual assaults/misconduct;  
 
 f. Responding with deliberate indifference to substantial, credible evidence of 

teacher/principal misconduct arising to the level of crime;  
 
 g. Responding with deliberate indifference to substantial, credible evidence of 

teacher/principal misconduct arising to the level of crime and failing to follow 
the procedures prescribed by law to deal with such misconduct; and  
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 h. Failing to establish adequate procedures for reviewing teacher/principal 

performance, in general, and complaints involving allegations of sexual 
assault/misconduct by teachers in particular.  

  
5.7 Qualified good faith immunity stands for the proposition that even though the civil rights 

of a complainant may have been violated, if the teacher/principal engaged in the conduct in 

good faith, there is no liability for that individual. The standard by which a teacher’s entitlement 

to good faith qualified immunity is an objective, not a subjective one.  This determination must 

be based on a version of the facts most favorable to Plaintiff. Questions of credibility are to be 

resolved by the fact-finder. In this case, ROBYN LYNN RUIZ alleges that neither Noyola, 

Puente, nor Garza are entitled to claim qualified good faith immunity as to any claims for relief 

or causes of action pled in this complaint. Neither Noyola, Puente, nor Garza ever acted in 

good faith of their conduct because each acted in a manner demonstrating that each was 

plainly incompetent and knowingly violated Plaintiff’s civil rights. Any reason given by either 

Noyola, Puente, or Garza for their unlawful actions and/or omissions do not warrant the 

application of qualified good faith immunity.  

B. 42 U.S.C. § 1985 

5.8 Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference, the allegations contained in ¶ 4.0 through 

4.22 supra, the same as if fully copied and set forth at length.  

5.9 Defendant RIO HONDO ISD is additionally liable to ROBYN LYNN RUIZ for the 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985, in that two or more of them conspired for the purpose of:  

 a.  Depriving Plaintiff of the equal protection of the law;  

 b. Depriving Plaintiff of due process of law;  

 c. Hindering the constituted authorities from giving or securing equal protection 
and due process of law to all persons;  
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C. Assault & Battery  

5.10 Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference, the allegations contained in ¶ 4.0 through 

4.22 supra, the same as if fully copied and set forth at length.  

5.11 As a pendent state cause of action, at all times material and relevant herein, Defendant 

RIO HONDO ISD, by acts and/or omissions and under color of state law did then and there by 

acts and/or omissions, intentionally, knowingly and/or recklessly cause severe personal injury 

to ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, through unconsented physical contact with ROBYN LYNN RUIZ.  

5.12 Under Texas law, the cause of action for offensive sexual conduct is simply one for 

assault and battery. Consequently, ROBYN LYN RUIZ alleges that Defendant RIO HONDO ISD 

committed an assault and battery upon Plaintiff. Said conduct of Defendant RIO HONDO ISD 

was committed intentionally, knowingly, and/or recklessly and was the proximate cause of the 

personal injuries and emotional injuries to ROBYN LYNN RUIZ. Said injuries were the direct 

and immediate consequences of Defendant’s wrongful acts, and a natural and direct result of 

the assault and battery.  

5.13 Defendant RIO HONDO ISD committed and assault and battery upon ROBYN LYNN 

RUIZ, by intentionally and/or knowingly causing physical sexual contact with ROBYN LYNN 

RUIZ. Defendant RIO HONDO ISD knew or should have reasonably believed that ROBYN 

LYNN RUIZ would regard the contact as offensive and/or provocative. Defendant RIO 

HONDO ISD knew or should have known that the acts, as described herein, were provocative, 

harmful, and/or offensive to ROBYN LYNN RUIZ. Said acts of Defendant RIO HONDO ISD 

were committed intentionally, knowingly, and/or recklessly, and they were the proximate cause 

of bodily and emotional injuries to ROBYN LYNN RUIZ. Furthermore, said injuries were the 
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direct and immediate consequences of Defendant RIO HONDO ISD’s tortious acts and a 

natural and direct result of the sexual conduct.  

5.14 At no time was Defendant RIO HONDO ISD privileged to take the action described 

herein as necessary. Moreover, Defendant RIO HONDO ISD’s assault and battery of Plaintiff 

was not objectively reasonable.  

D. Negligence and Negligence Per Se  

5.15 Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference, the allegations contained in ¶ 4.0 through 

4.22 supra, the same as if fully copied and set forth at length.  

5.16 Plaintiff asserts that Defendant RIO HONDO ISD is liable for negligence and negligence 

per se resulting from the manner in which they handled the events set forth herein.  

5.17 Plaintiff asserts that Defendant RIO HONDO ISD is liable for the negligent hiring, 

supervising, training, and retention of Noyola, Puente, and Garza. Defendant RIO HONDO 

ISD owed Plaintiff a duty to hire, supervise, train, and retain competent employees. Defendant 

RIO HONDO ISD breached those duties with respect to Noyola, Puente, and Garza, as they 

failed to adequately investigate their background, which would have revealed the type of 

offensive and deviant conduct that they piled on ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, as teacher and principal 

of RIO HONDO ISD. Further, Defendant RIO HONDO ISD breached those duties when it failed 

to adequately supervise, train, and retain Noyola, Puente, and Garza. Defendant RIO HONDO 

ISD’s breaches of their duty to hire, supervise, train, and retain competent employees 

proximately caused ROBYN LYNN RUIZ’ injuries and damages.  

E. Title IX  

5.18 Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference, the allegations contained in ¶ 4.0 through 

4.22 supra, the same as if fully copied and set forth at length.  
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5.19 Defendant RIO HONDO ISD is a regular recipient of federal funding and has been at 

all times relevant to the facts giving rise to this cause.  

5.20 Plaintiff contends that Defendant RIO HONDO ISD’S failure to have policies, 

procedures, practices, and customs in place to assure Plaintiff ROBYN LYNN RUIZ was not a 

victim of harassment and sexual abuse based upon her gender and/or sexual assaults violated 

her rights pursuant to Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (Title IX), 20 U.S.C. 

§ 1681 et seq. In this regard, Defendant RIO HONDO ISD was deliberately indifferent to the 

sexual harassment of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, of which the RIO HONDO ISD had actual 

knowledge, and that was so severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive, that it can be said to 

have deprived ROBYN LYNN RUIZ of access to the educational opportunities provided by her 

school.  

5.21 Defendant RIO HONDO ISD acted through its principal Puente and its teacher Noyola, 

each of who are agents of Defendant RIO HONDO ISD for purposes of Title IX.  

F. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress  

5.22 Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference, the allegations contained in ¶ 4.0 through 

4.22 supra, the same as if fully copied and set forth at length. ROBYN LYNN RUIZ asserts that 

the acts and/or omissions of Defendant RIO HONDO ISD render it liable for intentional 

infliction of emotional distress.  

5.23 In the sexual assault of ROBYN LYNN RUIZ, Defendant RIO HONDO ISD acted 

intentionally and/or recklessly, and its conduct was so outrageous in character and extreme in 

degree that it went beyond all possible bounds of decency. Defendant’s actions constituted 

outrageous conduct because it knowingly abused its position of authority as a teacher and 

knew that Plaintiff was particularly susceptible to emotional distress because she was a minor at 

Case 1:15-cv-00049   Document 1   Filed in TXSD on 03/19/15   Page 15 of 17



 

 
 

Robyn Lynn Ruiz v. Rio Hondo Independent School District  
Original Complaint 

Page 16 
 
 

the time. Such conduct by Defendant RIO HONDO ISD proximately caused Plaintiff’s emotional 

distress, which was severe, as the acts caused her embarrassment, fright, horror, grief, shame, 

humiliation, and worry.  

VI. DAMAGES  

6.0 As a result of the above and foregoing unlawful and wrongful acts of Defendant, 

Plaintiff has been caused to suffer general damages that include, but are not limited to the 

following: physical pain and mental anguish in the past and future, pain and suffering in the 

past and future, and severe emotional and mental distress in the past and future.  

6.1 Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988, a prevailing party in a Title IX case is entitled to recover 

her attorneys’ fees and expert fees. Hence, Plaintiff further prays for all costs, attorneys’ fees, 

and expert fees associated with bringing this case to trial.  

6.2 Plaintiff asserts that all conditions precedent to filing suit have occurred.  

6.3 Plaintiff demands a trial by jury for which the fee shall be separately paid.  

VII. RIGHT TO AMEND 

7.0 Plaintiff reserves the right to amend her petition upon additional facts learned through 

discovery and investigative processes.  

 WHEREFORE PREMISES CONSIDERED, Plaintiff ROBYN LYNN RUIZ prays that upon 

final jury trial hereon, Plaintiff have and recover damages against Defendant along with 

reasonable attorneys’ fees, including expert fees. Further, Plaintiff prays for all pre-judgment 

and post-interest interest at the highest rate allowed by law that can be assessed against 

Defendant in the event of recovery, and Plaintiff prays for any and all further relief, to which 

she may show herself to be justly entitled.  
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  Respectfully Submitted, 
  
  THE ZAVALETTA LAW FIRM 
  603 E. St. Charles Street 
  Brownsville, Texas 78520  
  Telephone (956) 546-5567  
  Email: pmz12@mac.com 
  ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 
    
  By: _______________________ 
        PETER M. ZAVALETTA 
   State Bar No. 22251600 
   Federal Bar Id. 7582 
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